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Questions Presented for Review  

This case involves implantable opioids-infusion pumps produced by 

Medtronic Inc. (“Respondent”). The pumps have Pre-Market Approval (“PMA”) 

granted by the Federal Drug Administration (“FDA”) for newly-developed 

technology. PMA is conditioned on strict adherence to numerous FDA conditions, 

including requirements to analyze and report adverse events to the FDA.  

Petitioner, 65 years old, had 3 pumps fail and therefore explanted from her body.  

According to PMA requirements, the explanted pumps should have been 

acknowledged and analyzed by Respondent.  However, Respondent claims that it 

has no records of any pumps ever being returned for analysis.  Petitioner alleges 

Respondent violated PMA mandates and committed fraud by hiding the failed 

devices and not reporting adverse events to the FDA.  

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal affirmed the district court’s ruling 

granting respondent’s Motion to Dismiss (“MDT12(b)”) as to both Petitioner’s 

original complaint and Petitioner’s First Amended Complaint (“FAC”), thus 

dismissing Petitioner’s causes of action for fraud and deceit.  The Ninth Circuit 

found that: (1) to have a claim, the Petitioner must identify the specific nature of 

the pumps’ defects and (2) PMA  requires Respondent only to report, but not to 

analyze adverse events to the FDA.  In sum, the Appellate Court held that the 

issue of whether Respondent committed fraud by hiding “adverse events” was 

moot because Petitioner was unable to establish the exact physical defect 

experienced by the pumps. Petitioner’s argument that the trial court dismissed 
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Petitioner’s allegations of fraud prematurely without affording Petitioner a chance 

for discovery was also rejected as moot by the Ninth Circuit.         

Four questions presented: 

1.  What is the scope of the FDA’s requirements of reporting of adverse events and 

whether Title 21 §803.50; Title 21 §803.56; and Title 21 §814.84 explicitly and 

implicitly require a company to not only report, but also analyze each adverse 

event and the company’s remedial actions for fixing and improving future product 

design and reliability? 

2.  What are the proper criteria for a product liability cause of action where the 

product at-issue has PMA?  According to the Appellate court, Petitioner must 

know the specific nature of the pump’s physical defect and allege specific violations 

of a procedural nature, i.e. Petitioner’s allegations of failure to report and analyze 

the adverse events was not sufficient to state a claim.  

3.   What is the proper stage at which allegations of fraud can be dismissed? 

Whether dismissing allegations of fraud at the pleading stage is unjust and 

prejudicial as it denies Petitioner of an opportunity to conduct reasonable 

discovery concerning the alleged fraud, which is often discreet, secret and difficult 

to uncover?  

4.   What is the standard for failure-to warn claims and causes of action based on 

detrimental reliance?  Both standards are extremely subjective and represent a 

matter of fact, which should be left for the jury to decide. Additionally, in the 

instant matter, Petitioner relied on the advice of her doctor, who was also misled 
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by Respondent. The issue of what is reasonable (especially when a doctor is 

involved) is measured by the “reasonable man” standard and should be left to the 

trier of fact to determine.  
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In The  

Supreme Court of the United States  

 

                       _________________________________________________ 

 

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI   

_________________________________________    

Petitioner Rebeca Lawrence (“Petitioner”) respectfully prays that a writ of 

certiorari issue to review the judgment below.  

OPINIONS BELOW     

1.   The opinion of the United States Court of Appeal for the NINTH CIRCUIT      

Before: BOGGS,** WARDLAW, and BEA, Circuit Judges.  UNPUBLISHED.  

The court’s Memorandum appears at Appendix A to this petition.  

Decided on January 28, 2020; Jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1291.  

2. The opinion of the United States District Court for the Central District of 

California Dale S. Fischer, District Judge, Presiding.   The court’s Ruling on 

MTD under 12(b)(a) Original Complaint appear at Appendix B.   

Ruling on MTD FAC 12(b)(a) appear at Appendix C.    UNPUBLISHED. 

     JURISDICTION 

The United States Court of Appeal for the NINTH CIRCUIT decided this case 

on January 28, 2020.  It appears at appendix A to this petition. The jurisdiction 

of this Court is invoked under original Jurisdiction 28 U. S. C. § 1254(1).  
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CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS INVOLVED 

 

  

21 CFR § 803.30 –  MEDICAL DEVICE REPORTING 

(2) Reports of serious injury. You must submit a report to the manufacturer of the 

device no later than 10 work days after the day that you become aware of 

information, from any source, that reasonably suggests that a device has or may 

have caused or contributed to a serious injury to a patient of your facility. If the 

manufacturer is not known, you must submit the report to us. You must report 

information required by 803.32. Reports sent to the Agency must be submitted in 

accordance with the requirements of 803.12 (b). 

 

21 CFR § 803.50(a) - FDA’s requirement to report incidents in which the device 

may have caused or contributed to death or serious injury, or malfunctioned in a 

manner that would likely cause or contribute to death or serious injury if it 

recurred; 

(a) If you are a manufacturer, you must report to us the information required by 

803.52 in accordance with the requirements of 803.12(a), no later than 30 calendar 

days after the day that you receive or otherwise become aware of information, from 

any source, that reasonably suggests that a device that you market: 

(1) May have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury or 

(2) Has malfunctioned and this device or a similar device that you market would 

be likely to cause or contribute to a death or serious injury, if the malfunction were 

to recur. 

(b) What information does FDA consider "reasonably known" to me? 

(1) You must submit all information required in this subpart E that is reasonably 

known to you. We consider the following information to be reasonably known to 

you: 

(i) Any information that you can obtain by contacting a user facility, importer, or 

other initial reporter; 

(ii) Any information in your possession; or 

(iii) Any information that you can obtain by analysis, testing, or other evaluation 

of the device. 

(2) You are responsible for obtaining and submitting to us information that is 

incomplete or missing from reports submitted by user facilities, importers, and 

other initial reporters. 

(3) You are also responsible for conducting an investigation of each event and 

evaluating the cause of the event. If you cannot submit complete information on 

a report, you must provide a statement explaining why this information was 

incomplete and the steps you took to obtain the information. If you later obtain 
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any required information that was not available at the time you filed your 

initial report, you must submit this information in a supplemental report under 

803.56 in accordance with the requirements of 803.12(a). 

 

21 CFR § 814.84  -Reports of Continuous Reports of Device Safety;   

Requirement to inform the FDA of "new clinical investigations or scientific studies 

concerning the device which the applicant knows of or reasonably should know;   

(i) Unpublished reports of data from any clinical investigations or nonclinical 

laboratory studies involving the device or related devices and known to or that 

reasonably should be known to the applicant. 

 

California General Duty of Care Laws under Sections 11590 & 111595 

adopted pursuant FDCPA (21 U.S.C. 352, 355(i), 360) and   

Cal. Health & Safety Code Sec. 24176 & 24174 that are identical                      

and not “in addition to” the requirements under the CGMP.    
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE  

 

I.   What is the scope of the FDA’s Title 21 requirements of reporting 

of adverse events? Do §803.50, §803.56, and §814.84 explicitly and 

implicitly require Respondent to not only report, but also analyze the 

reason for the failure for each pump and report actions related to fixing 

and improving future product design and reliability? 

 

Petitioner argues that Respondent perpetrated fraud on the FDA by hiding 

the adverse events and by not reporting to the FDA instances of failures and the 

results of the analysis of the failures, as required under PMA.  The Appellate 

Court did not address this.  Instead, in its decision, the Appellate Court implied 

that the issue of the missing failed pumps was moot because there “is no federal 

regulation mandating any analysis of removed medical devices.”  The Ninth 

Circuit  stated: 

Lawrence identifies no federal authority that requires medical-

device manufacturers to send removed medical devices 

anywhere for evaluation. Indeed, there is no federal 

regulation mandating any analysis of removed medical 

devices, and thus a tort claim premised on such a course of 

conduct would impose a requirement that is “different from” 

and “in addition to” what is required under federal law.  

See Appendix  A p1. §1 

The Ninth Circuit is incorrect and its ruling contradicts the holdings of 

sister Federal Courts and Federal Statutes.  The Appellate Court accepted the 

notion that the Federal Statutes require Respondent to report adverse events, but 

they do not require Respondent to analyze the failed pumps in order to determine 
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the nature of the defects.  That is grossly incorrect and clearly not what the FDA 

wanted in granting PMA.  The Appellate Court’s ruling directly contradicts 

numerous provisions of Title 21 Food and Drug Administration.  First, Respondent 

failed to even report the three separate pumps failure.  Second, the Appellate court 

ignored clear language of applicable FDA’s statutes cited by Petitioner in the 

pleadings, and reiterated and emphasized again during oral argument.  In reading 

applicable FDA statutes, it is difficult to understand how the court could disregard 

the requirement of an investigation and/or analyses in addition to reporting.   

Relevant Federal Statutes from Title 21 are attached as Appendixes F,G,& H.   

Shorts excerpts below clearly illustrate the point:   

 Title 21 Food and Drug Administration.  §803.50 Reports. 

  (iii) Any information that you can obtain by analysis, testing, or other 

evaluation of the device. 

3) You are also responsible for conducting an investigation of each event and 

evaluating the cause of the event. If you cannot submit complete information 

on a report, you must provide a statement explaining why this information was 

incomplete and the steps you took to obtain the information. If you later obtain 

any required information that was not available at the time you filed your initial 

report, you must submit this information in a supplemental report under 803.56 in 

accordance with the requirements of 803.12(a). 

       Appendix G:  §803.50: 

 

i) Unpublished reports of data from any clinical investigations or nonclinical 

laboratory studies involving the device or related devices and known to or that 

reasonably should be known to the applicant. 

       Appendix H:  §814.84  

 

It is unambiguous that Federal Mandate requires manufacturers to report 

adverse incidents, diligently analyze and investigate the reasons for the adverse 
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events, and then to notify the FDA of what happened with the devices and what 

was done to fix and improve the devices. It is only commonsensical: the entire idea 

of PMA is to protect the company from any legal liability because the FDA 

understands the importance to promote a fragile new technology.  The FDA’s 

intention is to protect companies from lawsuits and thus, facilitate improvements 

of the new devices to improve their future effectiveness and reliability.  The FDA 

understands that new devices will inevitably fail; however, the future benefits 

from these improved devices outweigh the risks of injury or even death to the 

present patients. PMA protection exists to allow companies to analyze and 

improve devices. Thus, PMA’s federal requirements are not “split” into “reporting” 

on one hand and “analysis” on the other—it is obvious why these two must go 

hand-in-hand: there is nothing to report unless the company conducts an analysis 

and determines the nature of the defect.   

II.  Respondent Violated the Strict Language of the FDA Conditional 

Letter of PMA Approval Mandating Analysis as Well As Reporting 

 

Based on the existing Federal Mandate expressly stated in a Conditional 

Letter of Approval (Appendix E) issued on September 19, 2003, the FDA 

permitted the sale of the Pumps.  That Letter also explicitly states conditions of 

Post-Market Approval, including the mandate to provide not only reporting, but 

also analysis of the failed pumps in order to improve Respondent’s pump design. 

The Conditional Letter of Approval mandates to reporting: 
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 POSTAPPROVAL REPORTS. Continued approval of this 

PMA is contingent upon the submission of postapproval 

reports required under 21 CFR 814.84 at intervals of 1 year 

from the date of approval of the original PMA.  

1.     Identification of changes described in 21 CFR 

814.39(a) and    changes required to be reported to 

FDA under 21 CFR 814.39(b). 

 

2. Bibliography and summary of the following 

information   not previously submitted as part of 

the PMA and that is known to or reasonably 

should be known to the applicant: 

 

3. unpublished reports of data from any clinical   

investigations or nonclinical laboratory studies 

involving the device or related devices ("related" 

devices include devices which are the same or 

substantially similar to the applicant's device); 

and 

 

ADVERSE REACTION AND DEVICE DEFECT REPORTING. 

As provided by 21 CFR 814.82(a)(9), FDA has determined that in 

order to provide continued reasonable assurance of the safety and 

effectiveness of the device, the applicant shall submit 3 copies of a 

written report identified, as applicable, as an "Adverse Reaction 

Report" or "Device Defect Report" to the PMA Document Mail 

Center (HFZ-401), Center for Devices and Radiological Health, Food 

and Drug Administration, 9200 Corporate Blvd., Rockville, 

Maryland 20850 within 10 days after the applicant receives or has 

knowledge of information concerning: 

 

1. A mix-up of the device or its labeling with another article. 

 

2. Any adverse reaction, side effect, injury, 

toxicity, or sensitivity reaction that is 

attributable to the device and: 

a. has not been addressed by the device's labeling; or 

b. has been addressed by the device's labeling 

but is occurring with unexpected severity or 

frequency. 
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Contrary to the Appellate Court’s holding, the reporting must include an 

analysis of what is wrong with the device i.e.  “Any adverse reaction, side effect, 

injury, toxicity…..”                   Id.  

The Post-Approval Requirements unequivocally demands reporting of all 

failures, all analysis, and all modifications to the pumps.  However, Respondent 

has no records of any failed pumps existing and Respondent failed to provide any 

reports to the FDA, in violation of federal statute.  

III.   What are the proper criteria for Petitioner to sustain her case for 

product liability?   According to the Appellate court, the Petitioner 

must know the specific nature of the physical defect and make 

allegations of specific violations of procedural nature, i.e. 

requirements to report and analyze the adverse events is not enough.  

The Appellate and District Courts Erred in Finding that Plaintiff’s 

Complaint Failed to Allege Specific Violations of the FDA’S PMA 

Requirements. 

 

The Appellate Court opined that: 

Lawrence’s First Amended Complaint contains only conclusory 

allegations, which fail to identify any specific federal requirement that 

was violated or the specific nature of the Pump’s purported defects.”                                         

        Appendix A p.3 §3 

Contrary to the Ninth Circuit’s finding, in her FAC, Petitioner stated her 

allegations of violations of federal requirements with specificity, and identified in 

her claim each Federal Statues that was violated. Petitioner also identified with 

detail and particularity, the dates and numbers of all removed pumps. However, 

despite such specificity, the District Court granted Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss 

the First Amended Complaint (Appendix C):  
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The complaint once again does not allege that Defendant failed to 

comply with the FDA’s PMA-imposed requirements. In fact, Plaintiff 

admits that  she has no idea what the source of the purported defect might 

be and has little prospect of figuring it out.  See FAC ¶ 28.  She appears to 

want to proceed in a res ipsa loquitur manner – because the system failed 

for her multiple times, it must be defective.  This does not allow her claims 

to survive because, as stated previously, failure of a Class III device that has 

passed the PMA process can only lead to liability if the device manufacturer 

failed to follow the requirements set out by the FDA in granting the PMA.

     

                  District Court’s Ruling on MTD FAC   App. C 

 

Judge Fischer continues: 

 “…while somewhat vague, the adverse events reporting claim appears to 

 be based on a failure to report the failures of Plaintiff’s own pumps…”      

 

                     Court’s ruling on MTD FAC     Id 

 

In FAC Complaint, Plaintiff alleges violations of: 

 21CFR §803.30 -  Medical User Facility Reporting Requirements 

 21CFR §803.50 -  Manufacture Reporting Requirements -  FDA’s 

requirement to report incidents in which the device may have caused or 

contributed to death or serious injury, or malfunctioned in a manner that 

would likely cause or contribute to death or serious injury if it recurred; 

 

 21 CFR § 814.84 –  Post-approval reporting;  

 21 CFR § 814.84(a)(9) -Reports of Continuous Reports of Device Safety;   

 

Petitioner also alleges that Respondent violated California General Duty of Care 

Laws under Sections 11590 & 111595 adopted pursuant FDCPA (21 U.S.C. 352, 

355(i), 360) and Cal. Health & Safety Code Sec. 24176 & 24174 that are identical 

and not  “in addition to” the requirements under the CGMP.  Petitioner properly 

alleged that Respondent failed to analyze and report the adverse events of 

Petitioner’s pump failures to the FDA.   
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IV.   The Ninth Circuit’s Ruling On the PMA Protection Conflicts with 

Other Courts’ Rulings  

 

The courts are deeply divided on the issue of pre-emption, especially where 

allegations of fraud and concealment of adverse data have been made.  Appellate 

Courts are divided over the extent to which state common-law claims are pre-

empted by the PMA. 

In Littlebear, plaintiff was implanted with a Class III PMA device 

manufactured by the defendant.  After receiving PMA, defendant contracted with 

a new supplier for assembly of the device, but failed to notify the FDA and plaintiff 

of the change.  Plaintiff was subsequently injured by the device and sued for fraud, 

violation of the Oklahoma Consumer Protection Act, strict liability, and negligence 

per se.       Littlebear v. Advanced Bionics, LLC, 896 F. Supp. 2d 1085, 1089, 2012 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 179388, *6, (N.D. Okla. 2012).  The Littlebear Court found that 

devices not satisfying the Current Good Manufacturing Practices ("CGMP”) 

requirements are considered "adulterated" under 21 U.S.C. §351(f),(h).  Thus, 

claims predicated on the failure to comply with specific CGMPs in the 

manufacturing of the devices are not preempted, and claims predicated on the 

failure to test under actual or simulated use conditions are not preempted.  Thus, 

state law claims that parallel federal regulatory requirements fit in the "narrow 

gap" between express and implied preemption.  Howard v. Sulzer Orthopedics, 

Inc., 796 F. Supp. 2d 1305, 1310 (N.D. Okla. 2011) (“suing for conduct 

that violates the FDCA, but [not] suing because the conduct violates the FDCA”).   
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Other courts permit a variety of claims to proceed.  Purcel v. Advanced 

Bionics Corp., Case No. 07-cv-1777, 2008 WL 3874713 (N.D.Tex. Aug. 13, 2008) 

("Purcel I") (finding no pre-emption of Texas strict liability or implied warranty of 

merchantability claims); Purcel v. Advanced Bionics Corp., Case No. 07-cv-1777, 

2010 WL 2679988 (N.D.Tex. June 30, 2010) ("Purcel II") (finding no pre-emption of 

Texas products liability, breach of implied warranty of merchantability, breach of 

express warranty, fraud and some negligence claims;); Hearn v. Advanced Bionics 

Corp., 06-cv-1114 (S.D.Miss. Nov. 5, 2007) (finding only some claims preempted) 

("Hearn I"); Lannon v. Advanced Bionics Corp., Case No. 09-cv-1192 (W.D.Wash. 

Jan. 29, 2010) (denying 12(b)(6) motion based on pre-emption (“Lannon Order”); 

Purchase v. Advanced Bionics, LLC, 896 F.Supp.2d 694, 08-cv-2442, 2011 WL 

9688280 (W.D.Tenn. Aug. 4, 2011) ("Purchase Order") (finding claims based on 

deviation from production/design requirements in the PMA and failure-to-perform 

testing under actual use conditions are not pre-empted).    

Each court must evaluate each case on an individual basis and rule based 

on its understanding of the merits of the claims asserted.  Furthermore, in 

Medtronic, Inc. v. Lohr, 518 U.S. 470, 495, 116 S. Ct. 2240, 2255 (U.S. 1996), the 

Court found that Lohrs' allegations may include claims that Medtronic has 

violated FDA regulations and that these claims can be maintained without being 

pre-empted by § 360k.   

Nothing in §360k denies [the State] the right to provide a traditional 

damages remedy for violations of common-law duties . . . additional 

elements of the state-law cause of action would make the state 
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requirements narrower, not broader, than the federal requirement.  While 

such a narrower requirement might be "different from" the federal rules in 

a literal sense, such a difference would surely provide a strange reason for 

finding pre-emption of a state rule insofar as it duplicates the federal rule.  

The presence of a damages remedy does not amount to the additional or 

different "requirement" that is necessary under the statute; rather, it 

merely provides another reason for manufacturers to comply with 

identical existing "requirements" under federal law.              Id.     

The Court found that, at such an early stage in the litigation, there was no reason 

to preclude Lohrs' manufacturing and labeling claims to the extent that they rest 

on claims that Medtronic negligently failed to comply with duties "equal to, or 

substantially identical to, requirements imposed" under federal law.  Id. at 497. 

        The courts are deeply and for different reasons split as to pre-emption, though 

many find that state claims should be allowed, especially early in the litigation, as 

the legislative history confirms that “§360(k) simply was not intended to pre-empt 

most, let alone all, general common-law duties enforced by damages actions.”  Id.    

Thus, “Medtronic’s argument [suggesting otherwise] is not only unpersuasive, it is 

implausible.”  Id. at 487.  

 Here, in the case at bar, Petitioner’s claims of fraud and failure to report 

were dismissed at the pleading stage, on a MTD 12(b), before discovery could be 

done. While the precise contour of purported “parallel claims” is uncertain, no 

court has excluded claims that seek to impose liability where non-compliance with 

the applicable FDCA is apparent.  In the instant matter, Petitioner asserts 

parallel claim against Respondent, seeking to impose liability based on 



 

 

13 

Respondent’s failure to comply with the FDCA requirements, which Petitioner 

clearly identified. 

 Plaintiffs may bring claims directly against device manufacturers if their 

state law claims parallel federal law, i.e., do not impose requirements that are 

different from, or in addition to, those already imposed on the manufacturers by 

federal law. District courts in numerous cases opined that a well-pleaded parallel 

claim must at least (1) identify the federal requirement applicable to the device 

with which it allegedly failed to comply and (2) explain how that violation of a 

federal requirement caused the plaintiff’s injury. See Smith v. St. Jude Med. 

Cardiac Rhythm Mgmt. Div.;  Ali v. Allergan USA, Inc.; Viserta v. St. Jude Med., 

Inc.; Bishoff v. Medtronic Inc.; Covert v. Stryker Corp. 

 Some courts accept the sufficiency of pleading parallel claims based on 

violations of FDA’s requirements. See Hofts v. Howmedica; Purcel v. Advanced 

Bionics,  Rollins v. St. Jude Medical.  

In Riegel, 552 U.S. 312, 128 S. Ct. 999, 169 L. Ed. 2d 892 (2008), the Court 

similarly went on to hold that the PMA preemption provision does not bar a state 

from imposing damages for a claim premised on the violation of FDA regulations, 

as long as the state duties "parallel," rather than add to, federal requirements.  

Riegel, supra, 128 S.Ct. at 1011. Thus, Petitioner may bring claims against 

Respondent if her state law claims parallel federal law, i.e., do not impose 

requirements that are different from, or in addition to, those already imposed by 

federal law.  See In re Medtronic, Inc. Sprint Fidelis Leads, supra, 623 F.3d at 
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1204.  In this case, however, the Appellate Court seems to suggest that 

requirements of honest and truthful reporting would be still an “additional” 

requirement under Riegel, and thus, would have warranted dismissal:    

“to the extent that they [impose requirements that] are ‘different 

from, or in addition to’ the requirements imposed by federal law.” 

Riegel v. Medtronic, Inc.,                              App. A p.1  §1 

             In other words, the Appellate court states that even if the instances of 

fraud are proven, the case must be dismissed anyway because there is no explicit 

wording in the Federal Statutes stating that the company (grantee of the PMA) 

should not commit fraud, should not deceive, should not lie, etc.  It is a ridiculous 

position requiring an explicit language in statues in order not to commit a crime.  

At the same time, the court stated that “To avoid preemption, a Petitioner   

bringing a state tort claim must allege that the state-law duty at issue parallels a 

federal requirement.”       Id. 

In this case, Petitioner is doing exactly that – alleging specific violations of 

the PMA i.e. hiding instances of adverse events in order to deceive the FDA, 

public, government, etc.   The adverse events are clearly identified: dates, pumps’ 

serial numbers, identity of participants, etc.).  Obviously, the fraud was never part 

of any “granted” protections under the PMA.  The requirement of honesty and 

truthfulness in dealing with FDA, public, and in general cannot be considered as 

“additional” requirements to the Federal Mandate and thus pre-empted.  Fraud 

was never a “foreseeable” part of the PMA and is not subject to its protection.    

Therefore, the Appellate court’s argument under Riegel, is off-point and 

inapplicable.   Although it is true that Petitioner cannot identify the specific 
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defects with the devices, it is unnecessary for her to do so.   The actual defect does 

not go to the merits of this case.  Rather, the continuous disappearance of the 

devices makes this case about fraud—Respondent engaged in a strategy employed 

to hide adverse events and circumvent federal regulations.   

V.  What Is The Proper Early Stage Of The Case At Which The Allegations 

Of Fraud Can Be Dismissed On Motion To Dismiss 12(B)(6) And Whether 

Dismissing Allegations Of Fraud Too Early In The Case Is Unjust And 

Prejudicial As It Denies The Petitioner Of Opportunity To Conduct 

Reasonable Discovery Of Alleged Fraud?  

Petitioner Had Sufficient Evidence to Establish PRIMA FASCIA for Fraud 

and Misrepresentation and thus, the Discovery Shall be Allowed.  

This case is also distinguishable from other cases because it involves the the 

disappearance of multiple experimental devices – the devices that should have 

been secured and protected because they represented valuable data for future 

research, which is at the center of the PMA’s purpose.  The unexplained missing 

pumps and their corresponding reporting to the FDA is the basis of Petitioner’s 

allegations of violations of PMA requirements—this case is not about the devices’ 

specific defects.  Although this is not the only case raising the issue of 

Respondent’s non-reporting of adverse events to the FDA, this is the first and only 

case where the allegations involve more than a single pump failure; in fact, this 

case concerns three pumps that had to be explanted within a short period of time. 

Because the disappearance of three (3) pumps cannot be a mere coincident, the 

disappearances raise an inference of intentional acts, a scheme possibly employed 

by Respondent for personal benefits.  Respondent refused to provide any answer as 
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to what happened to the explanted pumps. The only information Respondent 

provided was a declaration from its  Director of Customer Quality, Lisa M. 

Woodward Clarke, signed under penalty of perjury, stating that Respondent did 

not have any records of the failed pumps:  

“…Consistent with paragraph 3 above, Medtronic's business 

records do not reflect that any of Plaintiffs SynchroMed® II 

pumps (bearing serial numbers NGP326345H, NGP407855H, 

NGP409465H, and NGP416551H) were ever returned to Medtronic 

following explant…                                                Appendix E ¶3 

 

As of today, the main question of “what happened to the pumps” has yet to 

be answered.  That question is crucial in determining whether any violation of 

Federal Mandate was committed. Petitioner was denied the right to investigate 

the pumps’ whereabouts because her case was improperly dismissed by the lower 

courts for inability to provide a specific defect in the pumps.  To identify a specific 

defect in the pump, as the trial court demanded, Petitioner would need to have 

possession of the pumps to analyze then.  These are medically extracted pumps 

that require properly handling—they are not toys Petitioner could take home with 

her post-operation.  The Appellate Court and the Trial Court however applied a 

“specific defect” criteria.  At the same time, they also precluded Petitioner from 

gaining discovery.  The district court dismissed allegations of fraud on defendants’ 

Motions to Dismiss at a very early stage without providing Petitioner opportunity 

to conduct any discovery on the issue of pumps disappearance.  Then, the Court 

dismissed the case in its entirety. That is simply unjust.     
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VI.   The District Court’s Erred in Dismissal Fraud Charges on 

Motion to Dismiss 12(b) Thus Limiting Petitioner’s Ability to 

Engage in Meaningful Discovery.   

In her FAC, Petitioner established a Prima Facie case of fraud. If she had 

been allowed discovery, she would have found additional information concerning 

Respondent’s fraud and misrepresentation.  Petitioner’s allegations were credible 

and should have been allowed to proceed. However, the district court dismissed all 

fraud counts, thus preventing Petitioner from vital discovery.  

VII.   What is the standard for Failure-to-Warn Claims and 

Detrimental Reliance?  Both standards are extremely subjective and 

represent a matter of fact, thus they should be left for the jury to decide.   

Additionally, the Petitioner was relying on the advice of her doctor, who 

was also misled by the company.  The issue what is reasonable (especially 

when a doctor is involved) is measured by the standards of a “reasonable 

man” i.e. a jury, and should not be left to the court to decide. By doing 

that we are substituting the wisdom of the jury on opinion of the judge.  

Petitioner’s Failure-to-Warn Claims are Well Plead and Shall be Allowed.   

The controlling opinion in California that reinstated state-law failure-to-

warn claims is Stengel. In Stengel v. Medtronic Inc., 704 F.3d 1224, 1226, 2013 

U.S. App. LEXIS 621, *1 (9th Cir. Ariz. 2013), Plaintiff contended that Medtronic 

was negligent under Arizona law because it failed to provide the FDA with 

information about adverse events involving its medical device.  The Ninth Circuit 

held that Stengel’s state law claim was not impliedly or expressly preempted by 

the PMA], and that the general duty of care under Arizona common law 

incorporated a requirement to furnish adverse-event information to the FDA.     

Here, Petitioner claims that if Respondent had not hid the pumps and had 

timely notified the FDA of the failures, the FDA would have required Respondent 
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to perform mandated analysis and improve future designs. However, the trial 

court found that Petitioner would have agreed to install the replacement pumps 

regardless of whether improvements had been made to the pumps:   

Defendant claims that this allegation is false, but, in any event, there is no 

way that Plaintiff could have detrimentally relied on Defendant’s failure to 

inform the FDA of the failures of her own pumps – facts that Plaintiff 

clearly already knew. 

         District Court Ruling on FAC App. C  

It is extremely speculative for the court to decide that the Petitioner could 

not possibly rely on anything when making her decision to implant another pump; 

especially in light of the fact that there were three (3) pumps, with the first 

installed on 2009.   The decision whether it was “reasonable” or “unreasonable” for 

Petitioner to rely on something is very subjective and should be left for the trier-of- 

fact to decide.  What is reasonable for one is not for another. Different people may 

decide differently under the facts of the case, where Petitioner relied not only on 

the reporting by Respondent, but also on statements of the Respondent’s agent and 

Petitioner’s own doctor, who was persuade by Respondent’s agent as well.    

Petitioner’s First Amended Complaint was well-pled and specified with 

particularities the substance of Respondent’s failure-to-warn claims.   

VIII.       District Court Failed to Recognize the “Narrow Gap”    

Exemption to the PMA Preemption.  

 

Sections 360k(a) and 337 preempt most state-tort PMA-device claims 

against medical device manufacturers.  However, a “narrow gap” exists allowing 

to proceed only state-law claims that precisely parallel a federal law.  See Perez 
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v. Nidek Co., 711 F.3d. 1109, 1120 see Stengel v. Medtronic Inc., 704 F.3d 1224, 

1228 (9th Cir. 2013).  To fall within that “narrow gap” of non-preempted claims, 

“[t]he plaintiff must be suing for conduct that violates the FDCA (or else his 

claim is expressly preempted by § 360k(a)), but the plaintiff must not be suing 

because the conduct violates the FDCA (such a claim would be impliedly 

preempted under Buckman).”  Perez, 711 F.3d at 1120 (quoting In re Medtronic, 

Inc., Sprint Fidelis Leads Prods. Liab. Litig.,623 F.3d 1200, 1204 (8th Cir. 2010)). 

This case satisfies this requirement and thus falls within the “narrow 

gap.”  Petitioner’s Complaint is not based on specific pump defects, but rather 

on Respondent’s conduct that violates the Federal Mandate of Post-Approval 

Reporting: 

21 U.S.C. § 360i –requirement to inform the FDA of “new clinical 

investigations or scientific studies concerning the device,” which the applicant 

knows of or reasonably should know of; 

 21 CFR § 814.84(b)(2) - report incidents in which the devices may have 

caused or contributed to death or serious injury, or malfunctioned in a manner 

that would likely cause or contribute to death or serious injury if it recurred,     

  21 CFR § 803.50; 803.30 – report Any information that you can obtain 

by analysis, testing, or other evaluation of the device. 
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REASONS FOR GRANTING THE WRIT  

A.   This Issue is Vitally Important.  

 

This is as straightforward a certiorari candidate as any PMA disputed case 

can be.  It is manifestly important: what are the PMA requirements and how far 

PMA protections extend.  Different courts interpret the issue of a “parallel” case 

differently, causing a split between circuits.   

It is clear that FDA can enforce fraud, but in order to be able to do that, the 

FDA must be aware of fraud perpetrated by companies.  Under the Ninth Circuit’s 

ruling, a company that commits fraud by preventing the FDA from discovering 

instances of failed devices can never be identified, as any claims against it based on 

fraudulently concealed pumps would be preempted and dismissed.  Thus, the 

perpetrator would be protected from any liability under the PMA.  That is the circle 

that the Supreme Court shall break.   

The most important for the FDA is the percentage of reliability, i.e. what 

percentage of the devices will fail. This reliability reading’s importance is 

understandable, because each instance of failure can bring sever injury or death. All 

implantable devices, such as Opioid-Infusing Pumps produced by Respondent can be 

fatal if they fail.  Respondent prides itself on its 99.9% reliability record.  This data 

is very sensitive.  Even a few “adverse events” can shift total percentage to an 

“unacceptable” level and force the FDA to reevaluate or even recall the device’s 

PMA.  The consequences to Respondent of reporting failures could be devastating, 

including the loss of market share, lower stock price, etc.  In other words, there is an 
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incredibly large incentive to hide failed pumps.  Petitioner makes allegations related 

to widespread practice by Respondent to conceal failed devices in order to not report 

those incidents to the FDA.  Petitioner’s Complaint alleged that Respondent adopted 

a “policy” to defraud the FDA and public. As in Stengel, the Petitioner alleges 

widespread suppression of adverse event reports, 704 F.3d at 1226-27. 

B. This Case Is An Ideal Vehicle.  

It is not often when an implanted device fails.  It is extremely rare when 

two devices fail within weeks from each other. All other cases involving 

Respondent’s alleged violations of the Federal Mandate involved only a singular 

device, thus to draw any conclusion of any fraudulent scheme was impossible.  

Non-reporting of a failure of only one device cannot be used as an indication as of 

anything more than negligence.  There were no prior cases and the courts never 

dealt with the facts as in this case – devices with 99.9% reliability failing within 

weeks of one another and then disappearing into thin air. There were no prior 

cases with the facts similar to this case and the courts had never really dealt with 

the issue: what to do with allegations of blatant fraud adopted as a company policy 

for years? Respondent argues that under PMA everything is protected.  Petitioner 

disagrees and that is the substance of the instant dispute. 

PMA should never be a protection against fraud – it is not the legislative 

intent to create fraudulent schemes to milk the taxpayers of billions of dollars.  

The consequences of this case are enormous.  Respondent (and probably other 

manufacturers) continues to perpetrate this fraud. This is because attempts to 
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investigate into suspicious practices have been prematurely prohibited.  The role 

of the courts should not be to impede those who are trying to discover the truth, 

but rather to reasonably assist and encourage plaintiffs’ discovery and then, and 

only then, consider the full spectrum of evidence before rendering an opinion.   

Such opinion shall not be premature and in haste, but based on the totality of 

admissible evidence and made at a later stage of the case.  In this case, 

Petitioner’s allegations were dismissed at the very early stage on MTD12(b), based 

on disputed evidence, and without providing a reasonable opportunity for 

discovery.  

CONCLUSION 

This Court should grant certiorari. 

 

Dated:      

                                                    ______________________________________ 
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